
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION

SHANNON VOLLING, JULIE BANSER, ) 
and APRIL SOULAK )

)
Plaintiffs, )

) No. 11-cv-4920 
v. )

) Judge Joan B. Gottschall
ANTIOCH RESCUE SQUAD, individually and )
jointly as a joint employer with ) Magistrate Judge Maria Valdez
Metro Paramedic Services, Inc.; )
and METRO PARAMEDIC SERVICES, INC., )
individually as an agent of )
Antioch Rescue Squad and joint employer )
with Antioch Rescue Squad, ) Jury Trial Demanded

)
Defendants. )

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

Jurisdiction

Plaintiffs, Shannon Volling, Julie Banser, and April Soulak, by and through their 

attorneys, complain of Defendant Antioch Rescue Squad and Defendant Metro Paramedic 

Services, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Superior Air Ground Ambulance Service, Inc., as 

follows:

1. Federal question jurisdiction is based upon 28 U.S.C. §1331, and 28 U.S.C. 

§1343(a) and 42 U.S.C. §1983; supplemental jurisdiction is based upon 28 U.S.C. §1367(a).

2. Plaintiffs have complied with all administrative prerequisites by filing timely 

Charges of Discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) and 

the Illinois Department of Human Rights (“IDHR”) against all Defendants.  

3. The EEOC has issued a Notice of Right to Sue to each Plaintiff.  Pursuant to the 

work-sharing agreement, the IDHR has adopted or will adopt the EEOC’s determination.  
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4. This action properly lies in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 because the 

events giving rise to this claim occurred in this judicial district.

5. Plaintiff, SHANNON VOLLING (hereinafter “Plaintiff Volling”), is a female 

citizen of the State of Illinois employed by Defendants.

6. Plaintiff, JULIE BANSER (hereinafter “Plaintiff Banser”), is a female citizen of 

the State of Illinois formerly employed by Defendants.

7. Plaintiff APRIL SOULAK (hereinafter “Plaintiff Soulak”), is a female citizen of 

the State of Illinois formerly employed by Defendants.

8. Defendant ANTIOCH RESCUE SQUAD (hereinafter “Defendant ARS” or 

“ARS”) is a non-profit corporation authorized to do business in Illinois and operates its business 

at 825 Holbek Drive in Antioch, Illinois.  

9. Defendant ARS jointly operates and staffs the Antioch Rescue Squad with 

Defendant Metro Paramedic Services, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Superior Air Ground 

Ambulance Service, Inc.

10. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant ARS was the exclusive provider of 

ambulance and paramedic services, a traditional government function, to the citizens of Antioch, 

Illinois and operated under color of state law.   

11. In 1980, Defendant ARS entered into a contractual lease agreement with the 

Village of Antioch, which provided that Defendant ARS would pay a nominal fee of $1.00/year 

for lease of government property in exchange for paramedic services at no cost to the Village.  

Venue

Parties
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12. Defendant ARS occupies space from the Village of Antioch in a building that is 

also shared with the Village of Antioch Fire Department.

13. The Village of Antioch additionally provides dispatch services for Defendant 

ARS at no cost.

14. Both the Village of Antioch and the Township of Antioch provide funds to 

Defendant ARS for operational expenses, such as fuel.

15. The Village of Antioch identifies Defendant ARS as part of its Fire and Rescue 

services and Emergency Management Division and has provided training to Defendant ARS.

16. Defendant METRO PARAMEDIC SERVICES, INC.1 (hereinafter “Defendant 

Metro” or “Metro”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Superior Air Ground Ambulance Service, 

Inc., is a corporation authorized to do business in Illinois, operating its business at 310 W. Lake 

Street in Elmhurst, Illinois, and operates ambulance and paramedic services jointly with 

Defendant ARS from 825 Holbek Dr., Antioch, Illinois. 

17. At all times relevant hereto, Defendant Metro acted as an agent of Defendant ARS 

and jointly operated the Antioch Rescue Squad with Defendant ARS by, among other actions, 

staffing ARS with paid emergency service technicians and personnel for day shifts, assisting 

with volunteer services provided on nights and weekend shifts, and providing certain human 

resources functions for ARS.   

18. During all relevant times, Defendant Metro provided ambulance and paramedic 

services, a traditional government function, to the citizens of Antioch, Illinois and was acting 

under color of state law, including as an agent of Defendant ARS and joint operator of the 

Antioch Rescue Squad.

                                                  
1 Pursuant to a Tolling Agreement entered into between Plaintiffs and Superior Air Ground Ambulance Service, 
Inc., Plaintiffs previously removed Superior Air Ground Ambulance Service, Inc. as a defendant, without prejudice 
to subsequently reinstate, consistent with the terms of the Tolling Agreement.
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19. At all relevant times hereto, Defendant Metro operated out of the Village of 

Antioch property located at 825 Holbek Drive in Antioch, Illinois, which also houses the Village 

of Antioch Fire Department, and for which use of property Defendant Metro does not pay any 

rental fee to the Village of Antioch.

20. Defendant Metro also receives dispatch services from the Village of Antioch at no 

cost.

21. Defendant Metro does not own or operate its own ambulances in connection with 

its joint operation of the Antioch Rescue Squad, but rather uses the ambulances of Defendant 

ARS, which ambulances are labeled “Antioch Rescue Squad Mobile Intensive Care Unit” on the 

outsides.

22. The fuel for the ambulances used by Defendant Metro is funded in whole or in 

part by the Village of Antioch and the Township of Antioch.

23. Defendant Metro hires its paramedics and EMT-Bs from those who have 

previously been paramedics and EMT-Bs with Defendant ARS.

24. Defendant Metro does not maintain any separate uniform for its employees to 

wear when providing paramedic and ambulance services to the citizens of Antioch, Illinois.  

25. Defendant Metro employees wear “Antioch Rescue Squad” gear when working 

during what is officially designated as Defendant Metro work hours. 

26. Plaintiff Volling began her employment in May 2008.  

27. Plaintiff Banser began her employment in November 2008.  

28. Plaintiff Soulak began her employment in June 2010.  

Facts
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29. At all relevant times hereto, Plaintiffs performed their work responsibilities at or 

above their employer’s legitimate expectations.

30. At all times relevant hereto, Defendants employed Kyle Shouse and Chris 

McBrady, both of whom worked with each of the Plaintiffs.

31. Kyle Shouse, at various times, acted as Team Lead to Plaintiffs with supervisory 

authority over them. 

32. Defendant ARS maintains a Board of Directors, including currently its Chief 

Wayne Sobczak, Deputy Chief Brian DeKind, President Stephen Smouse, and Treasurer John 

Edgell.

33. Defendants ARS and Metro are responsible for the acts of Mr. Shouse, Mr. 

McBrady, its Board members, and other employees or agents who were acting within the scope 

of their employment and pursuant to a policy, custom, and/or pattern of sex discrimination, 

sexual harassment, retaliation, and violating individual rights of equal protection under the First 

and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States.

34. Defendants had a duty to adequately supervise their employees, including Mr. 

Shouse and Mr. McBrady, and had a duty to prevent any employee from harming another or 

from harming any member of the public.

35. Defendants failed to adequately supervise their employees, and negligently 

retained those employees who caused harm to others, including Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady, and 

members of its Board who not only permitted and participated in harming the women in the 

station, but who also permitted and participated in harming members of the public and in 

jeopardizing the safety of the residents of Antioch, Illinois and the patients in the ambulance, 
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which additionally caused emotional, reputational, and professional harm to Plaintiffs, who did 

not engage in this misconduct.

36. Throughout their employment, Plaintiffs have endured extremely offensive and 

unwelcome conduct of a sexual nature including but not limited to: 

a. Mr. McBrady groping Plaintiff Volling’s breasts and making comments about her 

comparative breast sizes to other female employees, including Plaintiff Soulak;

b. Mr. McBrady groping Plaintiff Soulak’s breasts and making comments about her 

comparative breast sizes to other female employees, including Plaintiff Volling;

c. Mr. Shouse forcing and attempting to force Plaintiffs Volling and Banser to kiss 

him;

d. Mr. Shouse pulling down Plaintiff Banser’s pants, leaving her naked from the 

waist down in front of several co-workers, and then proceeding to explicitly 

describe her private body parts to many colleagues;

e. Mr. Shouse putting his hand down the inside of Plaintiff Volling’s shirt and 

touching her in a sexually offensive and unwelcome manner;

f. making demands of a sexual nature;

g. Mr. Shouse slapping and/or grabbing Plaintiff Volling’s buttocks;

h. Mr. Shouse slapping and/or grabbing and Plaintiff Banser’s buttocks;

i. Mr. Shouse playing a game at the work station he refers to as the “North, South, 

East, West game” where he would move his penis around in all directions, 

including in front of Plaintiffs and his other female colleagues; 

j. Mr. Shouse placing extremely sexually offensive content regarding Plaintiff 

Banser on social media networks, including, , making statements to the 

quid pro quo

inter alia
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effect of “remember you spit on the penis before throwing it in your rear end 

instead of lube”;

k. Mr. Shouse sending text messages at the work station with messages such as “my 

dick is throbbing for you”;

l. photographing Plaintiff Volling and blowing up the photos to emphasize her 

chest, and then placing those photos in shared work spaces in the station;

m. regularly and continually viewing and displaying pornographic materials while 

on-duty in shared work spaces, including in front of Plaintiffs, and making 

sexually explicit comments and gestures about the displayed pornographic 

material;

n. making repeated lewd and sexually offensive comments in the workplace; 

o. removing Plaintiffs under garments from their overnight bags and placing them in 

shared work spaces at the station;

p. spraying Plaintiff Banser’s shirt with the saline flush meant for ambulance 

patients to make it wet and expose and emphasize her breasts;

q. referring to female body parts as “tits” and “pussies” in the presence of Plaintiffs;

r. purchasing pornographic materials with ARS resources with ARS management’s 

knowledge; 

s. posting photographs of naked men in the work station;

t. Mr. Shouse commenting on Plaintiffs Volling’s breasts and crotch area; 

u. Mr. Shouse telling Ms. Banser to perform a “pole dance” in the back of an 

ambulance for a intoxicated patient; 

v. Mr. Shouse commenting on how Plaintiff Banser’s breasts are “huge” or 
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“spectacular” and saying that he “likes to play with them”;

w. Mr. Shouse calling Plaintiff Banser the nickname “Backdoor Banser”, implying 

that Plaintiff Banser engaged in anal sex;

x. Mr. McBrady commenting on how large Plaintiff Soulak’s breasts are;

y. Mr. McBrady making repeated lewd and sexually offensive comments in the 

workplace directed towards Plaintiff Soulak such as “April, why don’t we just 

bang and get it over with”, or “why don’t we just get it over and screw”, or “you 

can be on top April, I’ll be on the bottom” or “April why don’t you just sleep with 

me”, or “April, why don’t you come sit on my lap or come sit by me”;  and 

z. Mr. McBrady making threatening comments to Plaintiff Soulak such as “do what 

you’re told, you’re a fucking probationary employee.”

37. Current and former employees have signed sworn declarations detailing the 

improper work environment additionally including, :

a. Mr. Shouse groping other female colleagues’ breasts;

b. Mr. Shouse grabbing one female colleague’s breasts, shaking her breasts, and 

screaming “milkshake!”;

c. Mr. Shouse talking about how one of his female colleague’s breasts got bigger 

after having a baby;

d. Mr. Shouse and Mr. McBrady talking about wanting to drink a female colleague’s 

breast milk “from the tap”;

e. Mr. Shouse commenting about whether one of his female colleague’s breasts were 

real, insisting to see her breasts to determine if they were real; asking her to jump 

up and down to see if they were real; and even grabbing her shoulders against her 

inter alia
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will and shaking her to see if they were real;

f. Mr. Shouse turning the volume of the television up very loud while viewing 

pornography to awaken his female colleagues who were sleeping at the station to 

the sounds of pornography;

g. Mr. McBrady making sexually offensive comments to his female colleagues 

including statements to the effect of, “my cock is so hard, do you want to feel it”;

h. Mr. McBrady calling his female colleague a stripper;

i. Paramedics engaging in sexual relations in the back of an ambulance while on 

duty;

j. Three paramedics engaging in sexual relations together in the back of an 

ambulance while on duty;

k. Mr. Shouse refusing to allow his female colleagues to turn off pornography from 

the shared television at the station, including by making statements to the effect 

of, “you’re just a probationary member, you have no right to change the channel”; 

l. Mr. Shouse editing his co-workers’ Facebook profiles while they weren’t looking

to include sexually offensive content;

m. Mr. Shouse downloading bestiality images on his co-worker’s computers while at 

the station;

n. Mr. Shouse drawing or placing photographs of penises in his colleagues’ 

paramedic school books;

o. Mr. Shouse shoving ice down the pants and shirts of his female coworkers;

p. Mr. Shouse and Mr. McBrady repeatedly talking about sex during work shifts;

q. Mr. Shouse and Mr. McBrady commenting on girls’ “asses” in a sexual manner;
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r. Mr. Shouse and Mr. McBrady talking about using the drug ExtenZe to engage in a 

contest to see whose penis would grow more;

s. Mr. McBrady offering to brush crumbs from a female colleague’s chest;

t. A Metro Supervisor engaging in sexual relations with a paramedic at the station

including in the bathroom and bunk area;

u. Paramedics and Board members using the station to engage in sexual relations;

v. Board member John Edgell shoving ice down the pants and shirts of his female 

coworkers;

w. Board member Edgell talking about having oral sex performed on him from his 

patients at a nursing home facility where he works during the day, including 

making statements to the effect of “I got a gum job from an old lady”;

x. Board member Edgell calling a female paramedic “Stripperella”;

y. Board member Edgell commenting about the breast size of female applicants 

when reviewing membership applications; 

z. Board member Edgell waking up a female colleague by placing his crotch area 

near her face;

aa. Board member Edgell slapping his female coworkers’ buttocks;

bb. Board members having a contest to see who can first engage in sexual relations 

with new female paramedics; and

cc. Board member Stephen Smouse trying to have sexual relations with female 

paramedics in the ambulance while on the way back to the station from a medical 

response call.

38. Defendants’ employees even victimized the patients in the ambulance with their 
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extremely offensive sexual harassment.  

39. For example, Mr. Shouse often remarked about the breast size of female patients 

in the ambulance, even of one female patient who was deceased.

40. On at least one occasion, Mr. Shouse instructed Plaintiff Banser to check the 

femoral artery (between the legs) of a female passenger in the ambulance even though the 

procedure was not required.

41. The mistreatment of patients, while including other sexually offensive conduct, 

also included physical assault and endangering the safety of patients.

42. Current and former employees have signed sworn declarations detailing the 

severe mistreatment of patients including, :

a. Mr. Shouse performing a 12-lead EKG on attractive female patients by exposing 

the patient’s breasts when he more appropriately should have taken measures to 

prevent the exposure of the patient’s breasts;

b. Mr. McBrady instructing his female colleagues to check a female patient’s breasts 

to see if they were real in order to take the patient’s blood pressure when it was 

medically unnecessary to do so;

c. Mr. Shouse commenting on the breast size of patients, including in front of 

psychiatric and intoxicated patients;

d. Mr. Shouse classifying patients’ breasts as “sexy,” “nice,” “not nice,” or “nasty”;

e. Mr. Shouse comparing the breast size of his female colleagues to the breasts of 

female patients;

f. Mr. McBrady commenting on the breasts of unconscious and psychiatric female 

patients;

inter alia
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g. Mr. Shouse making comments to the effect of, “I would’ve banged her” when 

discussing a female patient;

h. Mr. Shouse purposefully farting on an unconscious patient’s face;

i. Mr. Shouse purposely hitting a psychiatric patient on the head with a clipboard;

j. Mr. Shouse restraining psychiatric patients when it is unnecessary to do so;

k. Mr. Shouse making disparaging remarks about deceased patients;

l. Mr. McBrady losing his temper in front of patients and their families, including 

one time throwing a deceased patient’s walker across the room and using 

profanity in front of the deceased patient’s family members;

m. On another occasion, Mr. McBrady losing his temper in front of patients, 

including throwing a blood pressure cuff and cardiac monitor at his colleague

while in the ambulance with a patient present;

n. Mr. McBrady getting angry when forced to answer a medical response call when 

he was sleeping;

o. Mr. McBrady avoiding responding to medical response calls when it is close to 

the end of his shift;

p. Mr. McBrady attempting to persuade patients not to go to the hospital;

q. On one occasion, Mr. McBrady talking a patient out of going to the emergency 

room because it was nearing the end of his shift, and then thirty minutes later that 

same patient had an aneurism;

r. Mr. McBrady texting while driving the ambulance;

s. Mr. McBrady driving the ambulance at speeds exceeding even the acceptable 

speed limit for an ambulance;
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t. Mr. Shouse and Mr. McBrady falsifying patient care reports to say that a 

paramedic answered a medical response call when the paramedic had not done so;

u. Deputy Chief Brian DeKind insisting that a paramedic complete paperwork for a 

patient that the paramedic never treated or spoke with; 

v. Deputy Chief Brian DeKind insisting that paramedics answer his phone calls 

while caring for a patient even though doing so would result in the paramedic 

providing substandard care to the patient;

w. Board member Stephen Smouse and Board member John Edgell treating patients 

and driving the ambulance while intoxicated;

x. Board member Smouse telling his another paramedic that it’s okay to answer 

medical response calls after consuming alcohol;

y. Board members Chief Sobczak, Deputy Chief DeKind, John Edgell and Stephen 

Smouse providing inappropriate patient care such as resisting transporting a 

patient to the hospital;

z. Paramedics forcing a car accident victim to walk out of the car when it was not 

advisable to do so;

aa. Paramedics releasing patients when it was against medical advice;

bb. Paramedics delaying transporting a patient when it was against medical advice;

and

cc. Board members and Metro supervisory staff failing to investigate or remedy 

inappropriate patient care after being informed both verbally and in writing about 

some of the above described conduct by concerned paramedics.

43. Mr. Shouse treated psychiatric patients particularly abusively and admitted on one 
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occasion that he didn’t like “psych patients” while intentionally allowing a female psychiatric 

patient to be hit in the head with an object hanging from the ceiling of hospital property. 

44. The sexually hostile and dangerous environment in the Antioch Rescue Squad 

station has, at all times, been wholly unsupervised by any of Defendant Metro senior 

management or Human Resource personnel and has been perpetuated by Defendant ARS’s 

Board and Defendant Metro’s supervisory personnel.

45. This environment, which allowed the degradation and sexual assault of women, 

and allowed the mistreatment of patients in the ambulance, also prioritized partying over patient 

care and public safety.  

46. Current and former employees have signed sworn declarations detailing the 

culture of debauchery at the expense of public safety, including in addition to that described 

above, :

a. The station was often fully stocked with beer and liquor and for years, had a fully 

stocked bar in the station; 

b. Defendants purchasing alcohol for the paramedics from ARS funds;

c. Paramedics working for Defendants reporting to their shifts intoxicated;

d. Mr. Shouse showing up to the station extremely intoxicated only an hour or two

before an assigned work shift;

e. Paramedics, including Mr. Shouse and Mr. McBrady, using intravenous (“IV”) 

bags meant for patients to run saline fluid through themselves after they have

been drinking alcohol to become sober or cure a hang-over;

f. On one occasion a paramedic was so intoxicated that she urinated on a chair at the 

station;

inter alia
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g. Paramedics throwing up at the station after consuming large quantities of alcohol;

h. ARS Board members John Edgell and Stephen Smouse being intoxicated at the 

station while on duty;

i. Board member Edgell purposefully farting in his colleagues’ faces;

j. Mr. Shouse taking a portable phone into the restroom and broadcasting the sounds 

of his bowel movement over the station’s loudspeaker;

k. Mr. Shouse placing his feces in the women’s bathroom at the station;

l. Mr. Shouse placing his feces on a spoon and chasing his co-workers around the 

station with his feces; and 

m. Mr. McBrady putting ammonia inhalant, which causes a burning sensation and is 

properly used to awaken an unresponsive patient, in his female colleague’s 

pillowcase.

47. Defendants’ employees additionally engaged in life-threating conduct toward 

another female employee who had recently undergone surgery by placing excessive amounts of 

the drug Lasix® in her drink without telling her.  

48. Lasix® (furosemide) is a potent diuretic which, if given in excessive amounts, can 

lead to a profound diuresis with water and electrolyte depletion. Therefore, careful medical 

supervision is required and the dose and dose schedule must be adjusted to the individual 

patient's needs.  (http://www.drugs.com/pro/lasix.html).

49. When the affected female employee complained to Chief Sobzcak and Deputy 

Chief DeKind about the incident and reminded them of the dangers of misusing Lasix®, no 

remedial action was taken.  

50. Despite the repeated complaints from Plaintiffs and others regarding of the 
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sexually degrading and harassing workplace conduct, as well as patient misconduct and public 

safety issues, neither ARS nor Metro appropriately investigated the conduct or took corrective 

action.  

51. Plaintiffs initially complained verbally to members of Defendant ARS’ Board, 

including but not limited to Chief Wayne Sobczak and Deputy Chief Brian DeKind.  

52. At no time did Chief Sobczak or Deputy Chief DeKind take any action to remedy 

the severe misconduct that occurs in the workplace.

53. After her repeated verbal complaints went ignored, Plaintiff Volling sent a 

detailed letter to ARS Chief Wayne Sobczak in December 2010 informing him of certain 

examples of the sexually degrading and harassing workplace environment.  

54. The letter was also shared with other Board members.

55. Plaintiff Volling’s letter was additionally submitted to Defendant Metro.  

56. Defendants responded to Plaintiff Volling’s letter by retaliating against her.

57. Defendant ARS refused to investigate when it discovered that Plaintiff Volling 

had also complained to Defendant Metro, and accused her of breaching an instruction “not to 

speak to anyone regarding this complaint.” 

58. After Defendant Metro conducted a limited investigation, it failed to take any 

meaningful action to correct the workplace misconduct, and instead immediately and 

substantially reduced Plaintiff Volling’s work hours and has since otherwise denied her 

professional opportunities.  

59. Plaintiff Volling continues to work for ARS and Metro and continues to 

experience a hostile and retaliatory work environment.   

60. When Plaintiff Banser complained about Mr. Shouse’s sexually degrading and 
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harassing conduct, she was told not to be “dramatic.”  

61. Plaintiff Banser was subjected to further discrimination and retaliation when she 

was ultimately constructively discharged from her employment in July 2010.

62. Plaintiff Soulak repeatedly complained to Deputy Chief DeKind including 

submitting a letter on April 5, 2011, which informed Deputy Chief DeKind of certain examples 

of the sexually degrading and harassing workplace environment.

63. Plaintiff Soulak specifically asked Deputy Chief DeKind not to assign her to work 

with Mr. McBrady.  

64. Despite her requests, Deputy Chief DeKind continued to schedule Plaintiff Soulak 

for shifts working with Mr. McBrady.

65. After the harassment continued to escalate, Plaintiff Soulak again pleaded with 

Deputy Chief DeKind not to schedule her for shifts alongside Mr. McBrady.  

66. Deputy Chief DeKind told Plaintiff Soulak that if she wanted to stop working 

with Mr. McBrady she would have to find someone to switch shifts with her.  

67. Deputy Chief DeKind did not offer to make these arrangements himself nor did 

he offer to move Mr. McBrady from the shift.  

68. Instead of taking any meaningful corrective action, Defendants retaliated against 

Plaintiff Soulak by, , failing to take her off probationary status, calling her “dramatic” 

for complaining about the sexually offensive conduct, and ultimately terminating her 

employment with Defendants in November 2011.

69. Other women, in addition to Plaintiffs, also objected to the sexual misconduct of 

Mr. Shouse and Mr. McBrady and, again, Defendant chose not to discipline these men for their 

continued degrading conduct, but chose instead to remove the females from the shift during 

inter alia
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which Mr. Shouse and Mr. McBrady worked together overnight.

70. Each time a female employee would be removed from the shift, Mr. Shouse and 

Mr. McBrady would laugh and openly brag about how many women they had driven off of the 

weekly overnight shift they worked together.

71. In addition to receiving verbal and written complaints from Plaintiffs and other 

employees, both Defendant ARS’s Board members and Defendant Metro’s supervisory staff 

either personally witnessed, participated in, or were otherwise aware of the severe workplace 

misconduct and neglect of medical care, including by example, and in addition to as set forth 

above:

a. On one occasion, supervisor Becky Ralph witnessed Mr. Shouse grab Plaintiff 

Volling’s and Plaintiff Soulak’s chests. No action was taken against Mr. Shouse.

b. Deputy Chief DeKind witnessed Mr. Shouse make comments to another female 

colleague inquiring about whether her breasts were real.  No action was taken 

against Mr. Shouse.

c. Deputy Chief DeKind was informed that three paramedics had engaged in sexual

relations together in the ambulance. DeKind refused to take any action, instead 

responding to the effect of, “if I didn’t see it, it didn’t happen.”  

d. Chief Sobczak and Board member Smouse failed to take action after complaints 

of inappropriate patient care were brought to their attention and instead saying 

something to the effect of, “we’re not going to talk about this, whatever happens 

in rescue, stays in rescue.”

e. Supervisor Becky Ralph was told by a concerned paramedic that other paramedics 

were coming to the station intoxicated and using intravenous (“IV”) bags of saline 
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to get sober and/or prevent hangovers.  Supervisor Ralph took no action to 

discipline paramedics for improperly using intravenous fluids or to prevent them 

from engaging in this conduct in the future.  

f. Supervisor Ralph personally heard a paramedic comment about Mr. Shouse 

coming into work intoxicated for a designated Metro shift.  Supervisor Ralph said 

nothing in response to this comment and instead simply got up and walked away.

72. Emboldened by the lack of corrective action taken against them, Defendants’ 

employees continued to engage in sexually degrading and harassing workplace conduct after 

Plaintiffs and others complained.

73. After informal verbal and written complaints, and then even after formal 

complaints were received by Defendants, the sexually hostile work environment continued and 

Mr. Shouse bragged about his ability to perpetuate a sexually hostile work environment without 

being disciplined by Defendants.  

74. Mr. Shouse laughed about it in the workplace, stating that “Someone is getting 

fired!  Someone is getting fucked in the ass hardcore and it isn’t me.  Ha ha! Sucks to be them!”

75. Similarly, after Mr. Shouse was confronted by a physician with the danger of 

putting Lasix® in his colleague’s drink, he responded by telling his colleague, “you think that’ll 

make me stop, it won’t.” Defendants still took no action against him.

76. After this lawsuit was initially filed, Plaintiffs provided to Defendants 15 sworn 

declarations from witnesses corroborating and expanding on the serious allegations Plaintiffs 

tried to remedy internally with Chief Sobczak, Deputy Chief Brian DeKind, other members of 

Defendant ARS’s Board, Metro management employees, Metro’s internal legal counsel, the 

EEOC, and the Antioch Police Department all before ever filing this lawsuit.  
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77. After receiving the 15 sworn statements corroborating the allegations of serious 

misconduct of a sexual nature, and as relating to patient and public safety, Defendant ARS 

continues to date to employ Kyle Shouse and others who engaged in misconduct as paramedics.

78. After receiving the 15 sworn statements, Defendant Metro gave Kyle Shouse a 

job with its parent company Superior Air Ground Ambulance Service, Inc. 

79. Defendants have systematically chosen to condone the degradation of women in 

their workplace.  They have at all times chosen to protect Mr. Shouse and the other offenders and 

to maintain a policy, custom, and pattern of allowing and condoning sexual discrimination and 

harassment against women and retaliation against women who complain.   

80. Defendants have additionally systematically chosen to condone the mistreatment 

of patients in the ambulance and endangerment of public safety in the Antioch community as 

part of a policy, custom, and pattern of prioritizing a culture of sexual assault, sexual harassment 

and misconduct, sexual discrimination, misuse of drugs, working under the influence of alcohol, 

driving under the influence of alcohol, and other serious misconduct over patient and public 

safety.

81. Defendants’ actions are in direct violation of federal and state law.  As a result of 

Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered lost wages and other benefits,

professional and reputational loss, emotional distress, embarrassment, humiliation, 

inconvenience, and other non-pecuniary losses.  
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82. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

83. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution confers the right of 

an individual to be free of gender harassment and discrimination by an entity acting under color 

of state authority.

84. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant ARS has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to unequal and discriminatory treatment by creating and perpetuating a sexually hostile 

work environment, by tolerating sexual harassment in the workplace, and by knowingly failing 

and refusing to protect Plaintiffs from this work environment. 

85. The actions of Defendant ARS violate Plaintiffs’ equal protection right to be free 

from sexual harassment under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution.

86. Defendant ARS failed to train its managers, supervisors, and employees to 

prevent and/or remedy sexual harassment.  Defendant’s failure to train was deliberately 

indifferent to the rights of Plaintiffs and others.

87. Defendant’s actions reflect a policy, custom, or pattern of official conduct of 

engaging in and condoning the sexual harassment of women.

88. The conduct of Defendant was taken in concert, was willful, wanton, intentional 

and malicious and deliberately indifferent to Plaintiffs’ rights under 42 U.S.C. §1983.

89. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

COUNT I
SEXUAL HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION - 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and 
Jointly as a Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a result of Defendant’s conduct.

90. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count I and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

91. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

92. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution confers the right of 

an individual to be free of gender harassment and discrimination by an entity acting under color 

of state authority.

WHEREFORE

COUNT II
SEXUAL HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION - 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint 
Employer with Defendant ARS)
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93. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant Metro has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to unequal and discriminatory treatment by creating and perpetuating a sexually hostile 

work environment, by tolerating sexual harassment in the workplace, and by knowingly failing 

and refusing to protect Plaintiffs from this work environment.   

94. The actions of Defendant Metro violate Plaintiffs’ equal protection to be free from 

sexual harassment under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution.

95. Defendant Metro failed to train its managers, supervisors, and employees to 

prevent and/or remedy sexual harassment.  Defendant’s failure to train was deliberately 

indifferent to the rights of Plaintiffs and others.

96. Defendant’s actions reflect a policy, custom, or pattern of official conduct of 

engaging in and condoning the sexual harassment of women.

97. The conduct of Defendant was taken in concert, was willful, wanton, intentional 

and malicious and deliberately indifferent to Plaintiffs’ rights under 42 U.S.C. §1983.

98. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

99. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count II and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

WHEREFORE
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d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

100. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as though fully 

set forth herein.

101. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. §2000(e), et seq., makes it 

unlawful to discriminate against any individual in the terms, conditions or privileges of 

employment on the basis of sex.

102. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant has subjected Plaintiffs to sexual 

harassment in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 by creating and perpetuating 

a sexually hostile work environment, by tolerating sexual harassment in the workplace, and by 

knowingly failing and refusing to protect Plaintiffs from this work environment and harassment.   

103. Defendant failed to take proper corrective or remedial action in response to 

Plaintiffs’ reports of inappropriate touching, lewd behavior, and other sexual misconduct.

COUNT III
SEX HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII
(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a 

Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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104. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiff’s right to be free from sexual harassment.

105. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

106. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count III and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act as amended;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

WHEREFORE
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107. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as though fully 

set forth herein.

108. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. §2000(e), et seq., makes it 

unlawful to discriminate against any individual in the terms, conditions or privileges of 

employment on the basis of sex.

109. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant has subjected Plaintiffs to sexual 

harassment in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1991 by creating and perpetuating 

a sexually hostile work environment, by tolerating sexual harassment in the workplace, and by 

knowingly failing and refusing to protect Plaintiffs from this work environment and harassment.   

110. Defendant failed to take proper corrective or remedial action in response to 

Plaintiffs’ reports of inappropriate touching, lewd behavior, and other sexual misconduct.

111. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiff’s right to be free from sexual harassment.

112. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

113. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in her 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count IV and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act as amended;

COUNT IV
SEX HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint
Employer with Defendant ARS)

WHEREFORE
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b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

114. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

115. The Illinois Human Rights Act (“IHRA”) makes it unlawful for an employer to 

discriminate against any individual in the terms, conditions or privileges of employment on the 

basis of sex.

116. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant has subjected Plaintiffs to sexual 

harassment in violation of the Illinois Human Rights Act by creating and perpetuating a sexually 

hostile work environment, by tolerating sexual harassment in the workplace, and by knowingly 

failing and refusing to protect Plaintiffs from this work environment and harassment.   

COUNT V
SEXUAL HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF ILLINOIS HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and 
Jointly as a Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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117. Defendant failed to take proper corrective or remedial action in response to 

Plaintiffs’ report of inappropriate touching, lewd behavior, and sexual comments.

118. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from sexual harassment.

119. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

120. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count V and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Illinois Human 
Rights Act;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

WHEREFORE
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121. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

122. The Illinois Human Rights Act (“IHRA”) makes it unlawful for an employer to 

discriminate against any individual in the terms, conditions or privileges of employment on the 

basis of sex.

123. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant has subjected Plaintiffs to sexual 

harassment in violation of the Illinois Human Rights Act by creating and perpetuating a sexually 

hostile work environment, by tolerating sexual harassment in the workplace, and by knowingly 

failing and refusing to protect Plaintiffs from this work environment and harassment.   

124. Defendant failed to take proper corrective or remedial action in response to 

Plaintiffs’ report of inappropriate touching, lewd behavior, and sexual comments.

125. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from sexual harassment.

126. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

127. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count VI and that it:

COUNT VI
SEXUAL HARASSMENT IN VIOLATION OF ILLINOIS HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint
Employer with Defendant ARS)

WHEREFORE
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a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Illinois Human 
Rights Act;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

128. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

129. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution confers the right of 

an individual to be free of gender discrimination by an entity acting under color of state 

authority.

130. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant ARS has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to unequal and discriminatory treatment by creating and perpetuating a discriminatory 

work environment, by treating females disparately, and less favorably, than males, by depriving 

and tending to deprive equal employment to females, and otherwise adversely affecting Plaintiffs 

COUNT VII
SEX DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION - 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a 
Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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because of their sex.

131. The actions of Defendant ARS violate Plaintiffs’ equal protection to be free from 

sexual discrimination under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution.

132. Defendant failed to train its managers, supervisors, and employees to prevent 

and/or remedy sexual discrimination.  Defendant’s failure to train was deliberately indifferent to 

the rights of Plaintiffs and others.

133. Defendant’s actions reflect a policy, custom, or pattern of official conduct of 

engaging in and condoning sexual discrimination against women.

134. The conduct of Defendant was taken in concert, was willful, wanton, intentional 

and malicious and deliberately indifferent to Plaintiffs’ rights under 42 U.S.C. §1983.

135. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

136. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count VII and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

WHEREFORE
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g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

137. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

138. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution confers the right of 

an individual to be free of gender discrimination by an entity acting under color of state 

authority.

139. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant Metro has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to unequal and discriminatory treatment by creating and perpetuating a discriminatory 

work environment, by treating females disparately, and less favorably, than males, by depriving 

and tending to deprive equal employment to females, and otherwise adversely affecting Plaintiffs 

because of their sex.

140. The actions of Defendant Metro violate Plaintiffs’ equal protection to be free from 

sexual discrimination under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution.

141. Defendant failed to train its managers, supervisors, and employees to prevent 

and/or remedy sexual discrimination.  Defendant’s failure to train was deliberately indifferent to 

the rights of Plaintiffs and others.

COUNT VIII
SEX DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION - 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint
Employer with Defendant ARS)
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142. Defendant’s actions reflect a policy, custom, or pattern of official conduct of 

engaging in and condoning sexual discrimination against women.

143. The conduct of Defendant was taken in concert, was willful, wanton, intentional 

and malicious and deliberately indifferent to Plaintiffs’ rights under 42 U.S.C. §1983.

144. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

145. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count VIII and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

WHEREFORE
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146. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as though fully 

set forth herein.

147. Title VII as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. 2000(e), et seq., 

makes it unlawful to discriminate against any individual in the terms, conditions or privileges of 

employment on the basis of sex.

148. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant ARS has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to unequal and discriminatory treatment by creating and perpetuating a discriminatory 

work environment, by treating females disparately, and less favorably, than males, by depriving 

and tending to deprive equal employment to females, and otherwise adversely affecting Plaintiffs 

because of their sex.

149. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from sex discrimination.

150. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

151. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count IX and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act as amended;

COUNT IX
SEX DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a 
Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)

WHEREFORE
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b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

152. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as though fully 

set forth herein.

153. Title VII as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. 2000(e), et seq., 

makes it unlawful to discriminate against any individual in the terms, conditions or privileges of 

employment on the basis of sex.

154. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant ARS has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to unequal and discriminatory treatment by creating and perpetuating a discriminatory 

work environment, by treating females disparately, and less favorably, than males, by depriving 

and tending to deprive equal employment to females, and otherwise adversely affecting Plaintiffs 

because of their sex.

COUNT X
SEX DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint
Employer with Defendant ARS)
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155. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from sex discrimination.

156. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

157. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count X and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act as amended;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

WHEREFORE
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158. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as though fully 

set forth herein.

159. The Illinois Human Rights Act makes it unlawful for employers to discriminate 

against any individual in the terms, conditions or privileges of employment on the basis of sex.

160. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant ARS has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to unequal and discriminatory treatment by creating and perpetuating a discriminatory 

work environment, by treating females disparately, and less favorably, than males, by depriving 

and tending to deprive equal employment to females, and otherwise adversely affecting Plaintiffs 

because of their sex.

161. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from sex discrimination.

162. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

163. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count XI and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Illinois Human 
Rights Act;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

COUNT XI
SEX DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF ILLINOIS HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a 
Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)

WHEREFORE
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c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

164. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as though fully 

set forth herein.

165. The Illinois Human Rights Act makes it unlawful for employers to discriminate 

against any individual in the terms, conditions or privileges of employment on the basis of sex.

166. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant ARS has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to unequal and discriminatory treatment by creating and perpetuating a discriminatory 

work environment, by treating females disparately, and less favorably, than males, by depriving 

and tending to deprive equal employment to females, and otherwise adversely affecting Plaintiffs 

because of their sex.

167. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from sex discrimination.

168. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

COUNT XII
SEX DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF ILLINOIS HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint
Employer with Defendant ARS)
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benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

169. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count XII and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Illinois Human 
Rights Act;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

170. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

171. The First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution confer

WHEREFORE

COUNT XIII
RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION - 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a
Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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the right of an individual to be free from retaliation for speaking about complaints of gender 

discrimination, and complaints about public safety, by an entity acting under color of state 

authority.

172. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant ARS has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to retaliation for complaining about sexual harassment, gender discrimination, and 

matters of public safety, by taking adverse actions against Plaintiffs after they complained and by 

refusing and failing to protect Plaintiffs from retaliation by other employees under Defendant’s

control, management or supervision.   

173. The actions of Defendant violate Plaintiffs’ equal protection to be free from 

retaliation under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution.

174. The actions of Defendant further violate their right to free speech under the First 

Amendment to the Constitution and to be free from retaliation for exercising their right to free 

speech.

175. Defendant failed to train its managers, supervisors, and employees to prevent 

and/or remedy retaliation.  Defendant’s failure to train was deliberately indifferent to the rights 

of Plaintiffs and others.

176. Defendant’s actions reflect a policy, custom, or pattern of official conduct of 

engaging in and condoning retaliation against women for reporting sexual discrimination and 

harassment and retaliation against individuals who report matters of public safety.

177. The conduct of Defendant was taken in concert, was willful, wanton, intentional 

and malicious and deliberately indifferent to Plaintiffs’ rights under 42 U.S.C. §1983.

178. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 
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have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

179. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count XIII and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the First and 
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

180. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

181. The First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution confer

the right of an individual to be free from retaliation for speaking about complaints of gender 

WHEREFORE

COUNT XIV
RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION - 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint
Employer with Defendant ARS)
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discrimination, and complaints about public safety, by an entity acting under color of state 

authority.

182. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant Metro has intentionally subjected 

Plaintiffs to retaliation for complaining about sexual harassment, gender discrimination, and 

matters of public safety, by taking adverse action against Plaintiffs after they complained and by 

refusing and failing to protect Plaintiffs from retaliation by other employees under Defendants’ 

control, management or supervision.   

183. The actions of Defendant violate Plaintiffs’ equal protection to be free from 

retaliation under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution.

184. The actions of Defendant further violate their right to free speech under the First 

Amendment to the Constitution and to be free from retaliation for exercising their right to free 

speech.

185. Defendant failed to train its managers, supervisors, and employees to prevent 

and/or remedy retaliation.  Defendant’s failure to train was deliberately indifferent to the rights 

of Plaintiffs and others.

186. Defendant’s actions reflect a policy, custom, or pattern of official conduct of 

engaging in and condoning retaliation against women for reporting sexual discrimination and 

harassment and retaliation against individuals who report matters of public safety.

187. The conduct of Defendant was taken in concert, was willful, wanton, intentional 

and malicious and deliberately indifferent to Plaintiffs’ rights under 42 U.S.C. §1983.

188. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 
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of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

189. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count XIV and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the First and 
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

190. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

191. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, specifically 42 U.S.C. §2000(e)(3), 

makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate against any employee because she has 

opposed any unlawful employment practice or because she has made a charge, testified, assisted, 

WHEREFORE

COUNT XV
RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a
Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing pursuant to Title VII.

192. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant discriminated and retaliated against 

Plaintiffs for exercising their rights under Title VII and opposing an unlawful employment 

practice.

193. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from impermissible retaliatory conduct.

194. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

195. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count XV and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act as amended;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

WHEREFORE
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i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

196. Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as if fully set 

forth herein.

197. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1991, specifically 42 U.S.C. §2000(e)(3), 

makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate against any employee because she has 

opposed any unlawful employment practice or because she has made a charge, testified, assisted, 

or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing pursuant to Title VII.

198. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant discriminated and retaliated against 

Plaintiffs for exercising their rights under Title VII and opposing an unlawful employment 

practice.

199. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from impermissible retaliatory conduct.

200. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

201. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count XVI and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act as amended;

COUNT XVI
RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint
Employer with Defendant ARS)

WHEREFORE
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b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

202. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as fully set forth 

herein.

203. The Illinois Human Rights Act makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate 

against any employee because she has opposed any unlawful employment practice or because 

she has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, 

proceeding, or hearing pursuant to the Illinois Human Rights Act.

204. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant discriminated and retaliated against 

Plaintiffs for exercising their rights under the Illinois Human Rights Act and opposing an 

unlawful employment practice.

205. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

COUNT XVII
RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF ILLINOIS HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a
Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from impermissible retaliatory conduct.

206. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

207. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count XVII and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Illinois Human 
Rights Act;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

208. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as fully set forth 

WHEREFORE

COUNT XVIII
RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF ILLINOIS HUMAN RIGHTS ACT

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint
Employer with Defendant ARS)
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herein.

209. The Illinois Human Rights Act makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate 

against any employee because she has opposed any unlawful employment practice or because 

she has made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, 

proceeding, or hearing pursuant to the Illinois Human Rights Act.

210. By its conduct as alleged herein, Defendant discriminated and retaliated against 

Plaintiffs for exercising their rights under the Illinois Human Rights Act and opposing an 

unlawful employment practice.

211. Defendant’s conduct toward Plaintiffs illustrated a willful and/or reckless 

disregard of Plaintiffs’ right to be free from impermissible retaliatory conduct.

212. As a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs have lost wages and other 

benefits, have suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers 

have been damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment 

of life, inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

213. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter.

, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count XVIII and that it:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct was in violation of the Illinois Human 
Rights Act;

b) Award Plaintiffs the value of the compensation lost and benefits lost as a 
result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

c) Award Plaintiffs the value of compensation and benefits they will lose in 
the future as a result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct;

d) Award Plaintiffs damages for emotional distress and compensatory 
damages;

e) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

f) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; 

WHEREFORE
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g) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them from engaging in any unlawful 
employment practice;

h) Enjoin Defendant and all officers, agents, employees and all persons in 
active concert or participation with them to institute and carry out all 
policies and practices to provide equal employment opportunities for all 
and to prevent discrimination; and

i) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

214. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as fully set forth 

herein.

215. Defendant ARS knew or should have known that Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady, and 

other male employees were forcing Plaintiffs to endure extremely offensive and harmful conduct 

of a sexual nature, and that Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady and others were mistreating patients and 

otherwise endangering the public safety.

216. Yet, Defendant failed to take any corrective measure including terminating Mr. 

Shouse’s employment, and instead chose to retain Mr. Shouse as an ARS employee and allow 

him to stay on his preferred schedule.

217. As a result of Mr. Shouse’s and others’ extremely offensive and harmful conduct, 

Plaintiffs have been harmed and have lost wages and other benefits, have suffered emotional 

distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers have been damaged as a result of 

Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment of life, inconvenience and non-

pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

218. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter. 

COUNT XIX
NEGLIGENT RETENTION

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a 
Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Honorable Court find in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count XIX as follows:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct violates Illinois law;

b) Award Plaintiffs compensatory damages;

b) Award Plaintiffs emotional distress damages;

c) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

d) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; and

e) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

219. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as fully set forth 

herein.

220. Defendant Metro knew or should have known that Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady, and 

other male employees were forcing Plaintiffs to endure extremely offensive and harmful conduct 

of a sexual nature, and that Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady and others were mistreating patients and 

otherwise endangering the public safety.

221. Yet, Defendant failed to take any corrective measure including terminating Mr. 

Shouse’s employment, and instead chose to retain Mr. Shouse as a Metro employee and later 

give him an even more desirable job with its parent company, Superior Air Ground Ambulance 

Service, Inc.

222. As a result of Mr. Shouse’s and others’ extremely offensive and harmful conduct 

of a sexual nature, Plaintiffs have been harmed and have lost wages and other benefits, have 

WHEREFORE

COUNT XX
NEGLIGENT RETENTION

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint 
Employer with Defendant ARS)
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suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers have been 

damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment of life, 

inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

223. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter. 

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Honorable Court find in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count XX as follows:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct is in violation of Illinois law;

b) Award Plaintiffs compensatory damages;

b) Award Plaintiffs emotional distress damages;

c) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

d) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; and

e) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

224. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 89 and incorporate them as fully set forth 

herein.

225. Defendant ARS has a duty to supervise its employees including Mr. Shouse, Mr. 

McBrady, and others who engaged in offensive and unsafe workplace conduct.

226. Defendant negligently supervised Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady and other 

employees, allowing them to continually subject Plaintiffs and other employees to their 

extremely offensive and harmful conduct of a sexual nature without taking any corrective action 

and allowing them to harm and/or jeopardize members of the public without taking any 

WHEREFORE

COUNT XXI
NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION

(Against Defendant ARS Individually and Jointly as a 
Joint Employer with Defendant Metro)
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corrective action.

227. As a result of Defendant’s negligent supervision of Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady, 

and other employees, Plaintiffs have been harmed and have lost wages and other benefits, have 

suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers have been 

damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment of life, 

inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

228. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter. 

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Honorable Court find in their 

favor and against Defendant ARS on Count XXI as follows:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct is in violation of Illinois law;

b) Award Plaintiffs compensatory damages;

b) Award Plaintiffs emotional distress damages;

c) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

d) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; and

e) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

229. Plaintiffs reallege paragraphs 1 through 81 and incorporate them as fully set forth 

herein.

230. Defendant Metro has a duty to supervise its employees including Mr. Shouse, Mr. 

McBrady, and others who engaged in the offensive and unsafe workplace conduct.  

231. Defendant negligently supervised Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady, and other 

WHEREFORE

COUNT XXII
NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION

(Against Defendant Metro as an Agent of and Joint 
Employer with Defendant ARS)
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employees, allowing them to continually subject Plaintiffs and other employees to their 

extremely offensive and harmful conduct of a sexual nature without taking any corrective action 

and allowing them to harm and/or jeopardize members of the public without taking any 

corrective action.

232. As a result of Defendant’s negligent supervision of Mr. Shouse, Mr. McBrady, 

and other employees, Plaintiffs have been harmed and have lost wages and other benefits, have 

suffered emotional distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, and their careers have been 

damaged as a result of Defendant’s conduct; Plaintiffs have suffered loss of enjoyment of life, 

inconvenience and non-pecuniary losses as a direct result of Defendant’s conduct.

233. Plaintiffs demand to exercise their right to a jury trial of this matter. 

, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Honorable Court find in their 

favor and against Defendant Metro on Count XXII as follows:

a) Declare that Defendant’s conduct is in violation of Illinois law;

b) Award Plaintiffs compensatory damages;

b) Award Plaintiffs emotional distress damages;

c) Award Plaintiffs punitive damages;

d) Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees, costs and disbursements; and

e) Award Plaintiffs any and all other relief as the Court deems just in the 
premises.

Respectfully submitted,

By: s/ M. Megan O’Malley
Attorney for the Plaintiffs

WHEREFORE
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M. Megan O’Malley
John P. Madden
Lindsey E. Goldberg

542 So. Dearborn Street, Suite 660
Chicago, Illinois  60605
(312) 697-1382
ARDC No. 6243598
office@ompclaw.com

OíMalley  Madden, P.C. &
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